FUNDING AND FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF PHARMACOVIGILANCE

Suggested Model for funding Pharmacovigilance in Resource Limited African Countries



PhArmacoVigilance Africa (PAVIA)

Funding and Financial Sustainability of Pharmacovigilance

© PAVIA 2023

This is a publication under PAVIA Work Package 2. The PAVIA project is part of the EDCTP programme supported under Horizon 2020, the European Union's Framework Programme for Research and Innovation (grant number 1627 PAVIA CSA2016S).

This document should be cited as 'Suggested Model for funding and financial sustainability of pharmacovigilance (Medicine Safety) in Resource Limited African Countries (2023) PAVIA-EDCTP sponsored Project'

All rights reserved. No reproduction, copy, storage, transmission of this publication in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, recording, photocopying or otherwise by anybody or group of persons without consent of the copy right owner.

Printed in Nigeria by:

#4, Otike-Odibi Avenue, Isiohor, Benin City, Edo State.*Tel:* 08074009192ambikpress4jesus@yahoo.com

Authors

Prof Ambrose O. Isah and Dr Abimbola O. Opadeyi Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, School of Medicine, College of Medical Sciences, University of Benin, Benin City, Edo State. Nigeria.

Contributions from the following:

Frank Cobelens, Henry Tumwijukye, Diede Smith Amsterdam Institute for Global Health and Development, Amsterdam- the Netherlands (WP 1) Linda Harmark (WP 3 Lead) Edine Tiemmersma (WP4 Lead) and Blandina Mmbaga(WP 5 Lead) Margareth Ndomondo-Sigonda and Paul Tanui African Union Development Agency-New Partnership for Africa's Development (AUDA-NEPAD), South Africa. Rachida Soulaymani (Morocco Pharmacovigilance and Poisons Centre) Gugu Mahlangu Chair, PAVIA Advisory Board; Former Director General, Medicines Control Authority of Zimbabwe, Harare, Zimbabwe Jayesh Pandit, Pharmacovigilance Expert, Kenya, Africa

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementvi
Abbreviations
Executive Summary1
1.0 Introduction5
2.0 Conceptual Framework7
2.1 PV Funding and Financial Sustainability7
2.2 Some notable challenges of Financing Pharmacovigilance7
2.3 Essential Elements of a Financing Model8
3.0 Critical points for consideration in PV financing9
3.1 Pharmacovigilance System /NMRA Structure11
3.2 Sources of Fund and Financial Pool13
3.2.1 Pharma Consortium and PV tax on pharmaceutical sales17
3.3 Budgeting and Expenditure of funds17
3.4 Allocation of Funds (Scope) and Disbursement19
3.5 Legal Framework19
4.0 Methods/Process21
5.0 Findings
5.1 Literature search on funding of PV in some well- developed economies23

5.2 Findings from the landscape study of pharmacov	vigilance
funding in African countries	24
6.0 Considerations for Proposed Model(s)	26
6.1.1 NMRA with integrated PV outfit	26
6.1.2 PV independent of the NMRA	28
7.0 Conclusion	30
8.0 References	31

Acknowledgement

The funding of PAVIA by the EDCTP is gratefully acknowledged. The participation of all other Stakeholders and their contributions is noted with due gratitude.

The participation and the contribution made by the following experts during the various webinars and other personal correspondence is noted with thanks:

Members of PAVIA Advisory Board

Members of PAVIA Steering Committee

Members of PAVIA Executive Board

Ms. Gugu Mahlangu Chair, PAVIA Advisory Board, Former Director General, Medicines Control Authority of Zimbabwe, Harare, Zimbabwe

Dr Sten Olsson (now Late), formerly of the WHO UMC Uppsala Dr Margareth Ndomondo-Sigonda, African Union Development Agency-New Partnership for Africa's Development (AUDA-NEPAD), South Africa

Dr Helen Byomire Ndagije (President ISoP African Chapter) Professor Parthasarathi Gurumurthy, (Botswana Medicines Regulatory Agency)

Abbreviations

EDCTP: European-Developing Countries Clinical Trials Platform

EMA: European Medicines Agency

LMICs: Low- and Medium-Income Countries

MEB: Medical Evaluation Board

MHRA: Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency

MOH: Ministry of Health

NDA: National Drug Authority

NMRA: National Medicines Regulatory Agencies

NPC: National Pharmacovigilance Centre

PAVIA: Pharmacovigilance in Africa

PIDM: Programme of International Drug Monitoring

PHP: Public Health Programmes

PV: Pharmacovigilance

PDUF: Prescription Drug Users Fee Act

VAT: Value Added Tax

WHO: World Health Organisation

Executive Summary

Introduction

The establishment and growth of Pharmacovigilance (PV) over the last fifty years has contributed to the identification and minimisation of risks attributed to medicines in no small measure. The impact has been most appreciated in more advanced countries. However, the growth trajectory would have been more impressive but for some hindering factors negatively influencing its growth. This is most significant in the resource of limited settings where the establishment National Pharmacovigilance Centres (NPC) and their membership of the WHO Programme of International Drug Monitoring (PIDM) are more recent.

The need for a functional system to monitor the adverse effects of medical products and vaccines in Africa has become more urgent when the peculiarities of medicines used to treat the new and emerging diseases in the continent and indeed globally are considered. Recent examples include HIV/AIDS, Ebola, COVID-19 amongst others. The differential response by Africans as compared to other populations is worthy of note and remediable measures to minimise these effects can only be put in place if there is a systematic monitoring of the outcomes following use.

A major factor hindering the growth of the monitoring schemes has been the lack of resources to finance PV activities in these countries coupled with the lack of personnel and essential infrastructure. Where and when funds are made available there are usually ad hoc and most times donor driven There is utmost need to put in place a more sustainable financing model which would address the funding of PV activities in the African setting. Thus, this paper addresses the various ramifications to attaining this fiscal state for PV.

Objective

The objective of this paper is to provide an overview on the considerations and approach to establishing a financial mechanism to ensure sustainable funding of PV in Africa thus ensuring medicine safety in resource limited Africa.

Conceptual Framework and Processes

Financial sustainability in this regard, will entail a long term, continuous, adequate, stable, vested interest – free funding. The funding mechanisms determining its sustainability should ensure the availability of funds for its stipulated functions. Notable challenges of funding PV were taken into considerations and the essential elements in the operating model should include but not limited to the ethics and independence to be built into its operations, credibility of the source of funding, transparency as well as accountability in financial operations. The inclusiveness to ensure that all PV organs are incorporated holistically in the model so as to ensure its sustainability is of utmost importance,

There are critical issues to consider in PV financing since they are determinants in the development of a functional financing model. The process of developing this framework entailed a review of PV financing in some developed economies, a landscape study of funding of PV in some African countries, an in-depth understanding of the PV system and the organisational structure and nexus between the regulatory agencies and NPCs. These include the following: Pharmacovigilance System /NMRA Structure, sources of fund, budgeting and allocation of funds, disbursement and expenditure profile, the activities of the NMRAs and the NPCs and the overarching enabling legal provisions.

The prevalent integrated NPC/NMRA structure in the African setup as against the independent NPC/NMRA, is a major determinant as to the model of PV financing to be established. The multiple sources of funding include public financing – directly from government and its agencies, approved fees from commercialised services and donor financing amongst others. There are many potential sources yet to be explored. These include the insurance schemes, PV tax on pharmaceutical sales, other taxes direct for PV or Earmarking of the revenue for PV such as Consumption Tax (alcohol and other beverages, tobacco, sugars etc.) Value Added Tax and Lottery.

The financial model to ensure a sustainable funding for PV in Africa will depend on a legal provision governing most of the outfits, their activities, pooling of resources and subsequent disbursement and expenditure. Areas like the nexus between the NPC and NMRAs should be guided by definite laws and regulations in their fiscal operation. This should also guide the pooling of resources with due prioritisation of PV in the national scheme. The exploration of potential revenue sources coupled with that expected from government would to a large extent ensure the availability and sustainability of funds.

Conclusion

In all, the harnessing of the multiple sources of funds both statutory and the potential sources yet to be explored would make a sizeable revenue pool for PV. The provision of an overarching legal framework would ensure the availability and sustainability of funds for PV. Furthermore, due prioritisation of PV in the healthcare system, financial prudence, fiscal transparency and accountability will ensure financial sustainability for PV in the resource limited settings.

1.0 Introduction

The onerous responsibility of ensuring the safety of medicinal products and vaccines has become urgent and of utmost importance following the significant potential morbidity and mortality with the intake of these products. The duties are delegated to establishments with experts which operate within the context of the National Medicines Regulatory Agency (NMRA) or independently. Over the years, these set of activities have come under the umbrella of Pharmacovigilance and the establishments addressing the activities and processes of this system have been designated as National Pharmacovigilance Centres (NPCs) or units. Many of these establishments are members of the WHO Programme for International Drug Monitoring (PIDM) which was established in 1968².

African countries were late entrants into the PIDM, starting in 1992 with South Africa and Morocco. The gradual entry of the African countries occurred over a period of three decades and now stand at forty four³.

The performance of African countries remains under par when assessed by various measures including the objective indices of number of reports forwarded to the UMC Uppsala database. Until recently the number of reports from the entire African countries in the database averaged 1% with an unimpressive trajectory, though with some marginal increase following the monitoring of the COVID 19 vaccines⁴.

In Africa, the concept of pharmacovigilance and the establishment of NPCs started much later. The first two African countries to join the PIDM were Morocco and South African in 1992. Although forty-four African countries are now members

of the PIDM, NPCs in African countries are hindered by financial and logistics factors and are thus unable to monitor the safety of medicinal products optimally in their countries.^{5, 6}. Considering the competition by various sectors of the economy in the resources limited settings (RLS) it could be inferred that the low prioritisation of PV activities is an important factor. The resource challenges in most African countries with a low GNI per capita⁷ is beset by a huge debt profile, spiralling inflation and unfavourable foreign exchange status of local currency. The psyche of government usually relates to provision of medicines in the healthcare system which is considered beneficial with no consideration for potential harmful effects and the need to monitor them. In effect, the financing of pharmacovigilance is poorly prioritised. The various other factors that contribute to the poor funding of pharmacovigilance activities and measures to obviate them in African RLS have not been studied in a focused manner. Again, how all these impact on the funding of pharmacovigilance in the very competitive scheme of national resource allocation and how to remedy them is still speculative.

In realisation of this situation, dedicated efforts have been directed to strengthen PV in the African setting 8 , with a sustainable funding mechanism in view. This paper evaluates the PV system, potential sources of funding and proposes a framework that is likely to guide the establishment of a sustainable financial system.

2.0 Conceptual Framework

2.1 PV Funding and Financial Sustainability

Definitionally, financial sustainability entails a long term, continuous, adequate, stable, vested interest – free funding. The funding mechanisms determining its sustainability should ensure the availability of funds for its stipulated functions

In order to espouse the approach to developing a sustainable financing framework for Pharmacovigilance in the health care system amidst competing demands and interests, a proper understanding of the milieu and overarching important considerations likely to impact on the process and eventual outcome is imperative. This also require clarity regarding the essential elements of a financing model, potential challenges, and the critical points to address as highlighted below.

2.2 Some notable challenges of Financing Pharmacovigilance

The notable challenges in PV Financing include though not limited to the following:

- Undermining of funding of pharmacovigilance activities in healthcare /pharmaceutical systems.
- Low prioritisation of PV funding in the fiscal scheme of country's pharmaceutical care
- Conflict of interest of major stakeholders undermining the setting up of a robust mechanism to ensure appropriate funding.
- Lack of budgetary provisions and legal structures to support funding.

It is imperative that the importance of PV be realised in the polity and placed on an appropriate pedestal so as to ensure adequate and sustainable funding.

2.3 Essential Elements of a Financing Model

In view of the nature of pharmacovigilance, the ethics required in its operations and the set objectives to be realised, optimal considerations should be given to the funding mechanisms and the financial dynamics. The essential elements of any financing model should include and not limited to the following:

- Insulation of PV establishments from influences/interests likely to undermine its function.
- Credibility of the source of funding.
- Transparency and accountability in financial operations.
- Availability of adequate funding devoid of bureaucratic hindrances.
- Sustainability of funding to ensure continuity of PV programmes.
- Funding should be holistic in scope so as to cover the PV outfits at all levels: Facility, Local Govt, State or Provincial, National, Regional/Continental as well as those at International/Global levels.
- Public Health Programmes must be given due consideration.

3.0 Critical points for consideration in PV financing

There are critical issues to consider in PV financing since they are determinants in the development of a functional financing model. These include the following (**Figure** *I*):

- Pharmacovigilance System /NMRA Structure
- Sources of Fund and Financial Pool
- Budgeting and Allocation of Funds Scope
- Disbursement and Expenditure Profile
- NMRA and Regulatory Activities
- PV Facility and PV Specific Activities
- Enabling Legal Provisions



Sources of Fund (1); Revenue Pool (2); Revenue Allocation (3); NMRA//PV outfit nexus (4); Disbursement and Expenditure on activities (5); Overarching Legal framework (1 - 5)

Figure 1. Critical points for consideration in PV Financing

3.1 Pharmacovigilance System /NMRA Structure

An in-depth understanding of the Pharmacovigilance System, its operations and its nexus with the National Medicine Regulatory Agencies is of utmost importance for a proper characterisation of PV financing. The multiplicity of organisational structure of PV establishment vis a vis the National Medicines Regulatory Agencies (NMRA) implies the need for a financial model which will address the nexus between the two outfits. The prevalent organisational structures include the following:

- The Pharmacovigilance Outfit is fully integrated within the NMRA as a unit, department or a directorate. The operational name is the 'National Pharmacovigilance Centre' (NPC)
- The Pharmacovigilance Outfit is semi-autonomous (as a parastatal or directorate) with administrative issues handled independently but fiscal issues tied to the NMRA.
- The Pharmacovigilance Outfit is totally autonomous, independent regarding administrative and fiscal issues though interacting on matters of medicine safety

The most common organisational structure in African countries is that in which the PV outfit is integrated into the NMRA's administrative and fiscal operations (**Figure 2**). The PV outfits in Morocco and Tunisia are independent from their NMRAs regarding their administrative and fiscal operations (**Figure 2**). The relevance of these structure will be discussed below.



Figure 2. Organisational Structure of Regulatory Agencies in relation to the Pharmacovigilance Outfit with variant organisational structures for PV outfits independent of the NMRA.

3.2 Sources of Fund and Financial Pool

There several potential of funds for are sources pharmacovigilance. Indeed, financial sustainability may require focusing on several funding sources. To a large extent the source(s) should provide an uninterrupted flow of funds to the revenue pool and essentially the pool should be maintained at a critical level, robust to absorb shocks and not easily decapitated by minor programmatic challenges. Some potential sources are mentioned below (Box A). The extent to which the extant funding mechanisms is able to access these sources is of paramount importance. The revenue pool available for PV is further impacted by a number of other factors as well as the organisational structure which determines the principal recipient of the available fund.

The details of these sources and on how to access them vary from country to country. There are some local measures such as the revenue law and the treasury single account which may impact negatively on the funds available for PV activities (Figure 3). Some of the potential sources are yet to be explored and where and when explored are suboptimal in their reach. This includes the various revenue generating commercial services. The various health insurance schemes are yet to be implemented and early attempts remain infantile with poor coverage of the population. The Ghanaian experience is a case in point, where the capitation payment model used in a pilot implementation of the national health insurance scheme failed due in part to political reasons and perception of the population⁹. The promotion of health insurance schemes to increase its penetration in the country polity with due recognition of the

need to contribute to PV activities will definitely be a veritable source¹⁰.

Box A. SOME SOURCES OF FUNDS		
Box A. SOME Public Financing • Government statutory budgetary allocation • National Tax • Other statutory allocations Fees from commercialized services	 SOURCES OF FUNDS Donor Financing World Health Organisation (WHO) United Nations International Children's Fund (UNICEF) The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) Management Sciences for Usetty (MSU) 	
 User Fees Registration and Licensing Prescription Fees etc. Community Financing Pharma Consortium PV tax on pharmaceutical sales Earmarking Consumption Tax Value Added Tax Health Insurance Lottery 	 Health (MSH), The United States Pharmacopoeia (USP) European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership (EDCTP) New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) Global Fund (GF) Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF) Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) 	

There is also need for Government to put in place earmarking policies as one of the mechanisms for generating revenue for PV. Earmarking is a promising source of revenue mobilisation if properly applied, for instance to consumption tax of alcohol, tobacco and other food products such as sugary beverages that impact negatively on health ('sin' tax)¹¹. The earmarking measures have been used for other purposes in several countries including South America, Philippines, Egypt, Ghana, South Africa. This can be applied to PV with appropriate advocacy to government to enable development of politically acceptable policies. Other consumption tax e.g., Value added tax (VAT) has been useful sources. The Task Force on Fiscal Policy on Health¹² highlighted that raising the price of tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages by increasing excise taxes not only reduces morbidity and mortality but also generates additional tax revenues. Lotteries have also been a useful source.

The role of different categories of donors in the development and sustenance of PV has been substantial over the years. The ad hoc and perennial nature of this source does not guarantee financial sustainability and does not allow for proper budgeting. However, sizeable donations may increase the revenue pool and considering the focus of these donations they may be useful in achieving objectives of many public health situations.



Figure 3. Factors impacting on the size of the Revenue Pool

3.2.1 Pharma Consortium and PV tax on pharmaceutical sales

The setting up of a pharmaceutical consortium dedicated for pharmacovigilance activities is a potentially useful source of funds. However, this is usually difficult to achieve at national levels considering the chain of command. The Head Office of the Pharma are located in foreign countries and are unlikely to adapt such policies. Of interest is the support from big pharma during the COVID pandemic. The most likely approach to achieve success at the national level is the PV tax on pharmaceutical sales. This could be established after due consultation in accordance with statues. However, the possible backlash of an increase in drug prices (mark-up) must be dealt with.

3.3 Budgeting and Expenditure of funds

Realistic budgeting is an important element in ensuring judicious fiscal planning. One of the factors highlighted in the African PV financial landscape survey was the poor budgeting. There was a poor understanding and arbitrariness of the budgeting process. There is need to relate pharmacovigilance activities¹³ (**BOX** *B*) to financial expenditure so as to develop a realistic budget which can be reflected in a dedicated budget line in the national fiscal plan. The expenditure profile in PV result from wages, operational costs and development of infrastructure which vary to a large extent depending on the programmes and growth of the outfit. The expenditure including purchasing arrangements must be well planned having in view available resources (*Figure 1*)

The WHO PV Tool Kit¹⁴ is a useful resource to achieve this. Again, there should be compliance with extant provisions of the national Laws and provisions to ensure transparency and accountability. Attention to detail must be applied in the development of budgets by attributing realistic cost to the intended activities and items for purchase to achieve its objectives.

BOX B. SOME FUNCTIONS OF THE PV SYSTEM¹³

4	
1.	Adverse Drug Reaction /Event Reporting
	(Post- Marketing etc)
2.	Medication Errors, SFs, DD, Lack of
	effectiveness, misuse/abuse of medicines etc
3.	Management of ICSRs and its Database
4.	Coding of Adverse Events and Drug Names
5.	Expedited and Aggregate Reporting incl.
	PSURs and PBRER
6.	Signals and Signaling in the context of Risk
	Management
7	Causality assessment Signal detection and
<i>,</i> .	management (Confirmatory activities etc)
8	Clinical Trials - Data Monitoring DSMB etc.
0.	Pharmacovigilance System Master File
). 10	Pharmacovigilance Inspections and Audit
10.	Comparete and Drug Safety SODe Working
11.	Corporate and Drug Safety SOPS, working
	Documents, Guidelines and Manuals
12.	Stakeholder Advocacy and Engagement
13.	Communications

3.4 Allocation of Funds (Scope) and Disbursement

The mechanisms for allocation and distribution of funds depend on the levels in view. This paper deals with national and subnational levels which include Zonal and/or Regional Centres, Primary Care and Hospitals – Cottage and Tertiary and Public Health Programmes

Government should ensure a sustainable funding by expenditure earmarking to PV as a subsector of the health system guaranteeing allocation of funds from the Ministry of Health or relevant agencies. This will increase the financial pool available for PV activities

The allocation of resources is to a large extent determined by the organisational structure. As mentioned above, when the primary recipient is the NMRA with the integrated PV outfit, the allocation of funds to the later has been arbitrary. Most times the priorities of the agencies are set far and above those of PV. It may not relate to budgetary provisions. It is therefore necessary to define a clear formula for the funds to be allotted predicated on the PV budget. The absence of a clearly defined formula is a frequent cause of friction and underfunding of PV.

In the instance, when the PV outfit is the primary recipient of the pooled revenue, the main concern is the judicious use of funds vis a vis a realistic budget. The funds allocated to other sublevels should depend on the responsibilities they bear and the expected deliverables.

3.5 Legal Framework

One of the main findings in the African PV funding landscape study was the absence of a legal framework in most of the countries. One exception was Zimbabwe which has a legal provision for the NMRA which also oversees PV in the integrated system operating in the country ¹⁵. However, there is no formula to ensure clarity in the allocation/distribution of resources from the NMRA to the PV outfit

The legal framework in an overarching manner should address all steps identified in the chain of critical points likely to influence the PV finances (**Figure 1**). The fiscal policies of the government should be inclusive of issues related to Medicine Safety. The US PDUF Act is an example of a source of funding backed by legislation.

The WHO study reported a decrease from 100% to 60% donor funding between 1995 and 1997 in Uganda as a result of changes in the NMRA funding policy with increase in the proportion from government and industry^{16.} The study of Ndomondo-Sigoonda et al¹⁷, in 2020 confirmed this earlier finding of the WHO study stating that the Uganda National Drug Authority (NDA) is currently 98.25% funded through fees for service with minimal contribution from donors.

Areas to be addressed include statutory allocation of funds from government, provision granting financial autonomy to the PV outfits thus enabling retention of their fees for service provided i.e exemption from revenue law/single treasury account. Legal provisions to enable Earmarking in identified areas including health insurance should also be considered. In effect, definite policies, laws and regulations must be put in place to ensure a favourable environment for PV using provisions of the legislative and executive arms of government.

4.0 Methods/Process

The process of developing a model for sustainable financing of pharmacovigilance activities in resource limited African countries required extensive consultation and understanding of the prevailing pharmacovigilance system and the financial dynamics. This series of evaluation was carried out during the period 2019 to 2022 in the context of the overall PAVIA project by Work Package 2 and significant contribution from Work Package 1 PAVIA (Pharmacovigilance in Africa) an EDCTP (European-Developing Countries Clinical Trials Platform) - sponsored project intend to strengthen PV in the African setting **8**.

The various steps entailed the following:

• A review of funding of PV in some well-developed economies

A purposed literature search was conducted mainly targeting PV financing models from the developed and well-resourced countries with a view to understanding the PV financing models and systems in these countries. Information about these models was collected from journals and other on-line information through basic Google searches. The search was further extended to include multi lateral/bilateral funding agencies such as the World Bank, Global fund, EDCTP and Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (among others).

• A landscape questionnaire survey¹⁵ of the funding modalities for pharmacovigilance in African countries provided a situational analysis and notably provided information regarding the organisational structure of the

regulatory agencies and the nexus with the national pharmacovigilance outfits, sources of revenue and the constraints in ensuring sustainable funding.

• Consultative meetings, webinars, interviews with experts on sustainable funding for pharmacovigilance was solicited as reflected in the Acknowledgement Section.

The information thus obtained enabled the development of potential frameworks for PV financing models.

5.0 Findings

5.1 Literature search on funding of PV in some welldeveloped economies

The establishment of the Programme for International Drug Monitoring (PIDM) by the WHO required a substantial grant from the USA government facilitated by a Presidential executive order and later the Swedish government following transfer to Uppsala Sweden in 1978¹⁸. The Uppsala Monitoring Centre (UMC) as it is called eventually became self funding as a Foundation and financially independent relying on internally generated revenue mainly from sales of its dictionaries)¹⁹.

The funding of activities to ensure the safety of medicinal products and vaccine has been supported by the governments of the various countries usually through their various agencies and competent authorities. In the USA, the FDA benefitted from the Prescription Drug Users Fee Act (PDUF)²⁰ which was an executive-legislative overture to financially empower the FDA to enhance its efficiency in the handling of processes for licensure since 1992. This was specifically extended to enhance activities relating to ensuring the safety of medicines in a subsequent legislative provision in PDUF IV Act 2007^{21} . In the European Union, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) coordinates the European Union pharmacovigilance system and operates processes and services to support pharmacovigilance. Around 86% of the agency's budget derives from fees and charges and 14% from the European contribution for public health issues and less than 1% from other sources²². In the UK, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) is the national competent authority and main regulatory body regarding medicines and pharmacovigilance and is an executive agency of the Department of Health, which is responsible for matters of legislation and finance. In Germany, the national competent authorities are financially dependent on the Federal Ministry of Health²³. The French Ministry for Health and Social Security is responsible for the legal framework, and the overall supervision of the French finances. pharmacovigilance system. The regional centres rely on financing from the state budget and political priorities set by the Health Ministry. Thus, regional budgets are rather limited, and pharmacovigilance does not appear to be high on the political agenda.

The governments of some countries in Europe such as Portugal due to economic crisis in Southern Europe with lean budgets which impacted on their pharmacovigilance systems is now slowly recovering from the deep financial and personnel cuts in recent years²³. Lareb in the Netherlands is an independent foundation and is funded by the Medical Evaluation Board (MEB) and the Ministry of Health²⁴. In Japan, the substantial source of PV funding is from User fees and other contributions with much less from government²⁵.

5.2 Findings from the landscape study of pharmacovigilance funding in African countries

In a preliminary PV landscape study of 24 African countries¹⁵, the findings were remarkable and notably included the following:

- The funding from Government for PV though significant is amorphous with budgetary allocations only partially, if released.
- The funding mechanisms of PV is inextricably linked to the NMRAs
- Limited Statutory Provisions (legal framework) for PV financing
- Significant Donor Funding (Multilateral and Bilateral Agencies)
- Prominence of Public Health Programmes (PHPs)
- Budgetary items regarding PV activities are not clear
- No clear formula for release of PV related funds by NMRAs to NPCs
- Absence of permission to accrue, retain and use revenue for PV activities
- Involvement of PV personnel in other activities outside PV
- Unclear disclosure of funds received from donor bodies

The various factors hindering and those likely to improve and ensure sustainable PV funding are stated in an earlier publication¹⁵.

6.0 Considerations for Proposed Model(s)

In essence, considering the factors outlined above the framework for any model for PV financing in Africa will be based on the prevalent organisational structure for Pharmacovigilance establishment and a likely futuristic option as highlighted above, thus:

- NMRA with integrated PV outfit
- Independent PV Outfit operating outside the administrative ambits of the NMRA though interacting on issues of Medicine Safety (and variants thereof)

6.1.1 NMRA with integrated PV outfit

This is the operating framework for Medicine regulation and pharmacovigilance in most African countries. The degree of integration may vary from country to country but for a majority of countries the governance is intertwined.

Figure 4 illustrates this integrated NMRA-PV Model. The recipient of the revenue from the sources shown is usually the NMRA. The allocation from the pool to the PV establishment or for PV activities is determined by the Regulatory Agencies according to its set priorities.



Figure 4. The proposed model for financing pharmacovigilance: Integrated NMRA-PV and Independent PV organisational models

To ensure PV is not marginalised with this prevalent framework the following considerations should be addressed:

- A clear proportion of the revenue should be allotted to the PV establishment for PV activities
- Some formula for sharing of revenue should be clearly stated and backed by statute.
- Funds including donations primarily dedicated for PV activities should not be diverted by the NMRA

6.1.2 PV independent of the NMRA

PV outfits with administrative structure independent of the NMRA are not common. Lareb in the Netherlands represents an example outside Africa. In Africa, the PV outfits in Morocco and Tunisia are independent from the NMRA. While the Moroccan PV Centre is linked to the NMRA that of Tunisia relates with the Ministry of Health which carries out the regulatory functions. With this framework, the PV Outfits are the principal recipient of resources. Internal mechanisms have to be put in place to manage the resources in a prudent and transparent manner

There may be variants of these two organisational structures which form the framework for the model options (**Figure 2**).

The main focus for either framework is revenue pooling mechanisms which determine the available funds for PV activities. As mentioned above, there are several potential sources of funds.

These may fall into two main categories; Statutory Funding backed by a legal framework and the Perennial Ad hoc funding.

While the former is likely to be sustainable, the later is not. The various measures including intense advocacy to position PV in the National polity so as to secure this funding should not be underestimated. The Low- and Medium-Income Countries (LMICs) priorities set by governments are at times uninformed, misplaced and definite revenue generating measures are absent and when present infantile and tied to political squabbles. Areas such as Health Insurance, are futuristic due to the poor coverage, reluctance of stakeholders to provide support and unwillingness of the legislature to put in place the legal framework⁹.

It is essential that the main objective is the sustainability of financing for which ever framework is operational. It is pertinent to ensure an adequate revenue flow and maintain an appropriate revenue – expenditure balance. The robust nature of this model is such that it should be able to absorb shocks from the peculiar demands of the pharmacovigilance system such as seen in crisis situations. This is more so for the Low- and Medium-Income Countries (LMICs) with erratic economies where perturbations in the overall economy can crash the PV establishment.

7.0 Conclusion

In essence the availability and sustainability of funding for pharmacovigilance activities is paramount if the requisite monitoring to ensure the safety of medicines is to be done. The advocacy to the stakeholders on the need to adequately fund the pharmacovigilance activities bearing in mind the sacrosanct nature of its operation and deliverables should not be undermined. There exist multiple sources of potential revenue which should be fully explored and due regard should be given to the organisational structure notably the nexus between the regulatory agencies and the pharmacovigilance outfits. The sustainability of the model hinges to a large extent on the legal framework; statutory provision of funds, unbundling of the system from bureaucratic and fiscal hindrances so as to provide a seeming autonomy of a robust financial operation. Again, the sustainability of any financial model will depend on fiscal discipline with prudent expenditure subject to a transparent accounting procedure.

8.0 References

- Venulet, J., Borda, M.H. WHO's International Drug Monitoring — The Formative Years, 1968–1975. Drug-Safety 33, e1–e23 (2010). https://doi.org/10.2165/11532410-000000000-00000
- 2. McBride WG. Thalidomide and congenital abnormalities. Lancet 1961; ii: 1358.
- 3. Members of the WHO Programme for International Drug Monitoring

https://who-umc.org/about-the-who-programme-forinternational-drug-monitoring/<u>Member countries</u> | <u>UMC (who-umc.org)</u> accessed 22102022

- Agnes Kant A, Jansen J, van Balveren L, van Hunsel F. Description of Frequencies of Reported Adverse Events Following Immunization Among Four Different COVID-19 Vaccine Brands. Drug Safety 2022; 45:319–331 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-022-01151-</u><u>w</u>
- Olsson S, Pal SN, Stergachis A and Couper M. Pharmacovigilance Activities in 55 Low- and Middle-Income Countries. A Questionnaire-Based Analysis. Drug Saf 2010; 33 (8): 689-703
- 6. Ampadu HH, Hoekman J, Arhinful D, Amoama-Dapaah M, Leufkens GM and Dodoo NOH. Organizational capacities of national pharmacovigilance centres in Africa: assessment of resource elements associated with successful and unsuccessful pharmacovigilance experiences. Globalization and Health (2018) 14:109
- 7. World Bank GNI per capita https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.CD
 . GNI per capita, Atlas method (current US\$) |

Data (worldbank.org) accessed 26th September Isah AO et al., 2021

- 8. PAVIA -EDCTP. PAVIA (Pharmacovigilance in Africa) an EDCTP (European-Developing Countries Clinical Trials Platform) - sponsored project . https://paviaafrica.net
- Wang H, Switlick K, Ortiz C, Zurita B, Connor C. Health Insurance Handbook How to Make It Work. The World Bank Working Paper No.219 2010
- Abiiro GA, Alatinga KA, Yamey G. Why did Ghana's national health insurance capitation payment model fall off the policy agenda? A regional level policy analysis Health Policy and Planning 2021; 36: 869–80
- Cashin C., Sparkes S., Bloom D. Earmarking for health: from theory to practice. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 12. Bloomberg MR (on behalf of members) Health Taxes to Save Lives. Employing Effective Excise Taxes on Tobacco, Alcohol, and Sugary Beverages. Bloomberg Philanthropies. The Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health April 2019
- 13. WHO Global Benchmarking Tool (GBT) for evaluation of national regulatory systems of medical products, revision VI. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021.
- 14. WHO PV resources. Financial issues in pharmacovigilance. https://whopvresources.org/introduction.php accessed 8th December, 2022.
- 15. A Survey on Funding of Pharmacovigilance in some Africa Countries (in press)
- Ratanawijitrasin S, Wondemagegnehu E. Effective drug regulation—A multicountry study. WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data. Malta; 2002.

- Ndomondo-Sigonda M, Miot J, Naidoo S, Ng'andu B, Ngum N, Masota NE, et al. National medicines regulatory authorities financial sustainability in the East African Community. PLoS ONE 2020; 15(7): e0236332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236332</u>
- Venulet J & Helling- Borda M. WHO's International Drug Monitoring — The Formative Years, 1968– 1975.Preparatory, Pilot and Early Operational Phases. Drug Safety 2010; 33: e1–e23.
- 19. Program of international drug monitoring .WHO UMC Governance and Funding <u>https://who-umc.org/about-uppsala-monitoring-centre</u> <u>Governance</u> <u>and funding | UMC (who-umc.org)</u> accessed 24th October 2022
- 20. Shulman SR and Kaitin KI. The Prescription Drug User Fee Act of 1992. A 5-year experiment for industry and the FDA Pharmacoeconomics 1996;9(2):121-33. doi: 10.2165/00019053-199609020-00004
- 21. U.S Department of Health and Human Services. FDA PDUFA IV Drug Safety Five-Year Plan Prescription Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA) IV.Drug Safety Five-Year Plan 2008 – 2012. US FDA 2008.
- 22. European Medicines Agency https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/about-us/how-wework/governance-documents/funding
- Keading, M., Schmälter, J. & Klika, C. 2017. Pharmacovigilance in the European Union: Practical Implementation across Member States. Creative Commons eBook. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-17276-3.
- 24. PV funding Netherlands https://www.lareb.nl/en/pages/about-lareb
- 25. Funding for pharmacovigilance in Japan <u>https://www.pmda.go.jp/english/index.html</u>

: